Laxity-Based Return to Play

16

Stefano Zaffagnini, Luca Macchiarola, Ilaria Cucurnia, Alberto Grassi, and Cecilia Signorelli

Contents

16.1	Introduction	193
16.2	ACL Treatment in Professional Football Players	194
16.3	The Role of Laxity Assessment	195
16.4	Clinical Evaluation of the Knee Laxity	196
16.5	Instrumented Quantification of the Unidirectional Static Laxity	196
16.6	Assisted Assessment of the Multidirectional Dynamic Lavity with the Piyot-Shift Test	107
16.6.1	Computer-Assisted Surgical Navigation	197
16.6.2	Electromagnetic Sensor System	198
16.6.3	Inertial Sensors	198
16.6.4	Optical Motion Capture Technique	199
16.7	The Neuromuscular Factor	199
References		200

S. Zaffagnini (⊠) • L. Macchiarola • I. Cucurnia A. Grassi

Clinica Ortopedica e Traumatologica II, Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli, Bologna, Italy

Laboratorio di Biomeccanica e Innovazione Tecnologica, Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli, Bologna, Italy e-mail: stefano.zaffagnini@biomec.ior.it; luca. macchiarola@hotmail.it; ilaria.cucurnia@gmail.com

16.1 Introduction

Anterior cruciate ligament (ACL) rupture is a troublesome injury for a football player and the long-term consequences, such as early-onset osteoarthritis [1]. Interestingly, a recent study reported an increase in the number of annual ACL injuries recorded in US Major League Soccer (MLS) from 1996 to 2012: there has been at least one ACL tear per year and a greater number of ACL tears of the left versus the right knee. The ACL injury rate is 0.4 per team per season, which means that a club on average will see an ACL injury every second season [2]. In particular, injury is more frequent in female soccer players (they have almost 7 times the odds of sustaining a primary ACL tear compared with their male counterparts) [3], total rupture rate is significantly higher than the partial rupture rate, and the match ACL injury rate is 20 times higher than the training injury rate [4].

A debated risk factor in the literature is fatigue, but many of the ACL injuries actually occur early in the first half or among newly substituted players in the second half [5]. This finding suggests that if fatigue is a risk factor, it is probably more an effect of accumulated fatigue over time, for

Laboratorio di Biomeccanica e Innovazione Tecnologica, Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli, Bologna, Italy e-mail: c.signorelli@biomec.ior.it

V. Musahl et al. (eds.), Return to Play in Football, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-662-55713-6_16

C. Signorelli

example, owing to a congested match calendar [6, 7], than energy depletion per se in the match where the ACL injury occurs.

16.2 ACL Treatment in Professional Football Players

The general opinion among football medical doctors is that football players with an ACL injury need an ACL reconstruction in order to continue playing. The rationale for surgical intervention after ACL injury is to restore the pre-injury activity level [3].

The caretaking at the elite level represents, in many ways, the optimal situation: players at this level are supported by a highly qualified medical team, the time to diagnosis for this court is as a mean 8 days, and access for a diagnostic MRI is straightforward.

Marcacci et al. compared clinical results of surgical reconstructions within 15 days, and after 3 months from the injury, they obtained better results in terms of return-to-sport and laxity testing in the early reconstruction group [8]. Early surgery can thus be another factor behind the high success rates at elite level, but it is not completely proved [9].

Another important factor is the postoperative rehabilitation. Most certainly, the rehabilitation after ACL surgery has improved markedly during the last 20 years, but the possibility of being helped by a physiotherapist also differs between elite and amateur level. In Scandinavia, for example, an amateur football player is normally helped by a physiotherapist for about 1 h 2–3 times a week following ACL surgery; on the other hand, a player at elite level normally receives help from a team physiotherapist several hours every day [10].

Even if a majority of players can return to football after ACL injury/reconstruction, some sustain further knee problems and need of surgery [11, 12].

Walden et al. [4] have previously reported that many elite football players suffer from synovitis and other overuse injuries shortly after their comeback to football, possibly indicating premature return. At the professional level, economy has to be considered as an additional factor, with monetary implications increasing the desire to return to play. The high numbers of return to play after ACL surgery might reflect a satisfactory outcome, but could also be regarded as knee abuse with a risk of further joint injury and subsequent development of osteoarthritis. Another important finding is the mean absence from full team training between 6 and 7 months after surgery. This means that, even with optimal caretaking and resources, this is the time it takes and shorter rehabilitation could create an additional problem.

Fact Box 1

Generally, all players who underwent ACL reconstruction are able to return to training, but the re-rupture rate is not negligible. Even if 89% of professional athletes play within 12 months, only 65% competes at the highest level 3 years later.

Generally, all players who underwent ACL reconstruction for a total rupture are able to return to training, but the ipsilateral re-rupture rate (4%) and the need for other ipsilateral knee surgery (3%) before return to competitive activity are not negligible. Finally, the return-to-practice (RTP) rate within a year after ACL reconstruction for a total rupture is very high within 10 months (>90%), 89% participates in elite match play within 12 months, but only 65% compete at the highest level 3 years later. ACL reruptures are seen especially in younger athletes who return to sports. In particular, according to Wiggins et al. [13], when they are compared to uninjured subjects, they have a 30-40 times greater risk of ACL injury higher than those for uninjured subjects. The risk for ipsilateral graft rupture seems to be greatest in the first 2 years after ACL reconstruction, and a relatively higher proportion of contralateral ACL ruptures are seen with increasing follow-up periods [14].

It is well known that release for RTP after injury/surgery is a complex process, and, trying to understand which factors could influence outcomes, it is possible to determine extrinsic and intrinsic factors.

Between extrinsic factors only the "accelerated rehabilitation" concept by Shelbourne and Gray [15] is considered a vital goal, especially for high-level athletes. Application of this principle allowed professional athletes to return to sport as soon as 6 months after ACL reconstruction. However, caution should be used, as early return to sport has been demonstrated to be related to ACL failure, especially in cases of primary reconstruction with allograft tissue [16]. There are other extrinsic factors on outcome, such as type of graft, surgical technique, or fixation technique.

Intrinsic factors are patient's anatomy, biological response, and type of lesion. Morphological knee parameters such as tibial slope, notch width, and femoral condyle shape have been correlated with increased risk of ACL injury, ACL reconstruction failure, or postoperative laxity [17]. Furthermore, with regard to knee alignment, varus deformity has been demonstrated to increase tension on the ACL [18]. Furthermore, every patient has their own specific genetic makeup and biology, and lack of incorporation of the graft and biological failure are wellrecognized causes of poor outcomes after ACL reconstruction [19]. Clinicians must consider the lesion pattern and concomitant injuries: medial meniscus deficiency is responsible for increased stress on the ACL during AP tibial translation [20], while lateral meniscal deficiency is responsible for increased rotational laxity during the pivot-shift maneuver [21]. Grade II medial collateral ligament (MCL) lesions were recently recognized as a risk factor for ACL failure with an odds ratio of 13, and untreated posterolateral corner lesions have been demonstrated to increase the risk of ACL failure and to worsen outcomes [22, 23]. Finally, concomitant lesions (such as cartilage injuries) are a fundamental variable in the final return-to-sport decision, as even isolated cartilage procedures like microfractures usually need a longer recovery time compared with ACL reconstruction, about 8–12 months even in competitive athletes submitted to aggressive rehabilitation [24, 25].

16.3 The Role of Laxity Assessment

The static function of the ACL in the knee stability is to provide constraint when a force is applied (posteriorly) to the tibia, forcing it to translate forward from the femur. From a dynamic point of view, the intact ACL (especially its posterolateral bundle) limits the internal rotation and anterior subluxation of the lateral compartment of the knee, assuring its stability when complex vectors of forces are applied, such as during pivoting sports [26].

The assessment of the knee laxity represents a key factor when approaching the ACL-injured athlete in the presurgical phase, since knee laxity represents an important diagnostic tool and determinates the treatment algorithm. It was demonstrated that a high grade of pre-reconstruction knee laxity significantly increases the odds of graft failure and revision [27].

Also an intraoperative evaluation of the residual laxity might suggest the need for additional surgical procedures. In fact, although the ACL is the main ligament for static and dynamic knee stability, other anatomical structures such as menisci and the anterolateral ligament (ALL) have been demonstrated to play a minor role in knee stability [28, 29].

For this reason the authors recommend always to perform a complete assessment and reconstruction of the damaged structures, to obtain the best results in terms of return to sport.

Finally, it is useful to evaluate the knee laxity throughout the postoperative period, to verify the integration of the graft and to decide the right moment for the athlete to return to professional sport activity [30].

It was demonstrated, with a biomechanical in vivo experiment, that rotational stability of the ACL-reconstructed knees did not show much improvement at the 3-month follow-up after surgery, but at the 12-month control, they showed a rotational stability comparable to the healthy contralateral side. This suggests that the graft undergoes significant remodeling over time detectable by laxity assessment [31].

16.4 Clinical Evaluation of the Knee Laxity

In the clinical setting, the most elementary and rapid tools for the physician to evaluate the ACL function are the anterior drawer test and the Lachman test [32] for the static laxity (Fig. 16.1). The dynamic laxity is evaluated with the pivot-shift test (PS) [33] (Fig. 16.2).

These examinations were described during the 1970s and led to better accuracy in diagnosis of the ACL injuries; in particular the Lachman has



Fig. 16.1 The *arrow* shows the direction of the force applied on the tibia during the Lachman test



Fig. 16.2 The execution of the pivot-shift test, *arrows* show multiple vectors applied on the limb

been demonstrated to be the most sensitive test, while the PS is the most specific test, especially under anesthesia [34].

The execution and grading of these tests are dependent on the experience of the physician and thus subjective; moreover, they involve great intra- and inter-examiner variability since applied manual loading cannot be standardized [35].

Nevertheless, a wide accepted clinical classification of the International Knee Documentation Committee (IKDC) ranks the knee laxity in four grades (from "A" to "D") based on the millimeters of anterior tibial translation in Lachman and anterior drawer test and on the subjective feeling of tibial reduction for the PS test. In this classification the contralateral healthy side is taken as reference [36].

16.5 Instrumented Quantification of the Unidirectional Static Laxity

Among the first instruments designed for the evaluation of the ACL injuries, there are KT1000 (MEDmetric Corp, San Diego, CA, USA) and the Rolimeter (Aircast, Europe). These mechanical joint arthrometers are inexpensive and easy to use, allowing their application in an ambulatory setting. The KT1000 resembles the Lachman test in its execution and permits to calculate the force (in Newton) applied on the proximal tibia at 20° of flexion and to quantify its consequent anterior subluxation (in millimeters) [37] (Fig. 16.3).

Nowadays, this device is extensively used in the management of ACL reconstruction [38].

Rolimeter, which is normally used to quantify the anterior drawer test, is a simpler device that measures the anterior translation of the tibial tubercle, at 20° of flexion when a manual load is applied (Fig. 16.4).

Despite its simplicity, Rolimeter have been demonstrated to be as reliable and reproducible as KT1000 in the knee laxity assessment [39, 40]. Anyway, the opinion about the relation between KT1000 and Rolimeter data and clinical outcome is not unanimous, so the utility of these two instruments is not wide yet.

Fig. 16.3 KT1000 measures the anterior tibial translation when a standard force is applied

Fig. 16.4 Rolimeter measures anterior tibial translation during an anterior drawer maneuver

16.6 Assisted Assessment of the Multidirectional Dynamic Laxity with the Pivot-Shift Test

The pivot shift is a phenomenon occurring in the ACL-deficient knee when, in extension, the lateral tibial plateau is anteriorly subluxated: at a certain degree of flexion, the increased tension elicited by the iliotibial band causes a sudden reduction upon the condyles. The combined movement of the tibia during this maneuver can be divided in external rotation and posterior translation [41].

Given the complex kinematics of the PST, a number of parameters have been described in the literature for quantification. These parameter can be classified in four groups (translations, rotations, acceleration/velocity, and others), thus pointing out the lack of consensus and of standardized methodology among physicians [42].

During recent years several devices have been developed for the assessment of the knee dynamic laxity, the most promising being surgical navigation, electromagnetic sensors system, inertial sensors, and image analysis system [43].

16.6.1 Computer-Assisted Surgical Navigation

First developed during the 1990s, computeraided surgery (CAS) has been used during ACL reconstruction to implement the tunnel drilling and the isometry of the graft and later to evaluate the knee kinematics [44].

Determination of the patient anatomy is needed for CAS, and this can be achieved with a preoperative computer tomography, intraoperatively with fluoroscopic X-rays, or more commonly with an image-free digitalization of certain anatomical structures using navigated pointers. In order to evaluate knee kinematics, either electromagnetic or optoelectronic technology is utilized to evaluate joint positions and movement. Trackers and receivers are fixed invasively to the bones under anesthesia: thus, no skinrelated artifacts are present with this technology [45]. Using a navigation system (BLU-IGS, Orthokey, Lewes, Delaware, DE, USA), static and dynamic laxity measurements demonstrated that compared to single-bundle ACL-R, the double-bundle technique provides better laxity control during the PST [46].

16.6.2 Electromagnetic Sensor System

In vivo first evaluation of the knee movement during PST in 6 degree of motion (DOF) was performed by Bull et al. [41] using the electromagnetic system; they used sensors which were fixed into the femur and tibia with pins. Their measurements were accurate but the technique was invasive.

Noninvasive electromagnetic tracking devices (FASTRAK or LIBERTY, Polhemus, Colchester, VT, USA) have a sampling rate of 60 Hz and 249 Hz, respectively, and a root square accuracy of 0.03 mm and 0.15° of rotation [47].

The system is composed of three electromagnetic receivers and transmitters that produce an electromagnetic field. The first and the second receivers are fixed on the thigh and below the tibial tubercle with braces; the third is utilized to record and reconstruct the three-dimensional anatomy of the limb through seven bony landmarks. The respective movements of the tibia and femur are then visualized and analyzed on a laptop as a virtual limb [48].

Electromagnetic devices have been used for over a decade and are precise, reliable, and noninvasive. Nevertheless, metallic objects can produce signal disturbances, and wireless systems are yet to be developed to facilitate examinations.

16.6.3 Inertial Sensors

These devices have received growing attention during the last years; they exploit the fact that the lateral aspect of the tibia undergoes a sudden acceleration during reduction in the pivot-shift maneuver. This value can be calculated (in m/s^2) and visualized on a graph (Fig. 16.5).

16.6.3.1 Triaxial Accelerometer

KiRA (Orthokey, LLC, Lewes, DE, USA) is attached with a strap between the tibial tuberosity

. . .

Fig. 16.5 Triaxial accelerometers are able to measure the accelerations in the three-dimensional space

and Gerdy tubercle and connected wireless with a tablet. The PST examinations can be performed before surgery and under anesthesia and is able to show statistically significant differences in acceleration between ACL injured and intact knees [49, 50].

At the 6-month follow-up, the values of acceleration normalized. However, it was shown that the specificity of the device varies from 50% to 90% depending on the experience of the tester [51].

KiRA was validated for clinical practice in the treatment of the ACL injury [52].

16.6.4 Optical Motion Capture Technique

Image analysis measures posterior translation of the tibia during pivot shift correlating with clinical grading of the PST [53, 54].

Using an iPad technology (PIVOT, Impellia Inc., USA), the recorded translation of the lateral compartment was related the IKDC clinical classification. Significant differences were found between the ACL-injured and contralateral side of the included patients; moreover, there was a significant difference in mean translation between knees graded as 1 when compared to knees graded as 2 [55]. It has been demonstrated that both inertial sensors and image analysis devices are able to differentiate between high-grade and low-grade PTS results according to the IKDC classification, making them optimal tools for diagnosis and follow-up [56].

Fact Box 2

Inertial sensors exploit the fact that the lateral aspect of the tibia undergoes a sudden acceleration during the pivot-shift maneuver: this acceleration can be on a graph. Moreover, the KiRA device has been validated for the evaluation of the anteroposterior laxity.

16.7 The Neuromuscular Factor After ACLR

There is a significant difference between PST in awake and anesthetized patients; in particular, they obtained lower values of tibial acceleration and lateral compartment translation in the awake group. This suggests that the neuromuscular component might play an important role in determining the grade of dynamic knee laxity [57]. It was also demonstrated that the local neuromuscular condition varies during the first postoperative year, influencing the stability of the knee joint as well [58].

According to the author's clinical experience and studies, KiRA device permits the evaluation when the neuromuscular response of the operated limb reaches the same level of the uninjured knee, during the rehabilitation of the athlete [59]. This can be a useful aid in the return-to-sport decision process (Fig. 16.6).

Take Home Points

 Most physicians prefer manual testing of the Lachman and PST to assess the athlete readiness to return to play [60]; in particular the PST correlates to clinical outcomes and the development of osteoarthritis [61, 62].

Fig. 16.6 The accelerations occurring during the pivotshift test are measured with KiRA and visualized on a tablet

- Anterior laxity measured with KT1000 cannot predict return to football [63–65].
- Dynamic laxity 5 years postoperatively was greater in ACL-reconstructed knees than in uninjured knees, suggesting that this may affect the return to sport and risk of osteoar-thritis [66].
- Currently, the timing of when an athlete returns to sport varies with rehabilitation programs, but no consensus rehabilitation program exists for athletes recovering from ACL reconstruction [67, 68].
- Actually, the return-to-sport decision is mostly based on subjective non-specific criteria [69]; on the other hand, objective criteria (like muscle strength, ROM, effusion) are used less [70].
- The vast majority of surgeons consider 6–8 months as a cut-off value for allowing sport resumption [71].
- The authors' preferred approach is using a sport-specific program to obtain more effective rehabilitation programs for athletes after surgery that allowed 95% and 62% of professional male soccer players to return to the same professional sport activity 1 and 4 years after surgery [72].
- Anyway, using a restricted test battery, the majority of patients who are 6 months after ACLR require additional rehabilitation to pass RTS criteria [73].
- It is important to create a new RTS battery with objective and restricted criteria in order to optimize the decision-making regarding RTS after ACLR with the aim to reduce incidence of second ACL injuries.

Fact Box 3

The sport resumption decision is now based on subjective non-specific criteria. Gokeler et al. demonstrated that using a more restricted test battery, the majority of patients who are 6 months after ACLR require additional rehabilitation.

Take Home Message

Despite the large number of clinical tests and accelerated rehabilitation, the improvement of diagnostic tools, and surgical technique, longterm results in professional football players are not excellent. A better pre- and postsurgical evaluation of knee laxity with new objective and restricted criteria, associated with the use in clinical practice of new devices for laxity assessment, have the potential to improve patient evaluation and to provide athletes with a safer instruction to return to sport.

Top Five Evidence Based References

- Waldén M, Hägglund M, Magnusson H, Ekstrand J (2016) ACL injuries in men's professional football: a 15-year prospective study on time trends and returnto-play rates reveals only 65% of players still play at the top level 3 years after ACL rupture. Br J Sports Med 50(12):744–750
- Van Eck CF, van den BekeromMP FFH, Poolman RW, Kerkhoffs GM (2013) Methods to diagnose acute anterior cruciate ligament rupture: a meta-analysis of physical examinations with and without anaesthesia. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc 21(8):1895–1903
- Kilinc BE, Kara A, Celik H, Oc Y, Camur S (2016) Evaluation of the accuracy of Lachman and Anterior Drawer Tests with KT1000 in the follow-up of anterior cruciate ligament surgery. J Exerc Rehabil 12(4):363–367
- Zaffagnini S, Lopomo N, Signorelli C, Marcheggiani Muccioli GM, Bonanzinga T, Grassi A, Raggi F, Visani A, Marcacci M (2014) Inertial sensors to quantify the pivot shift test in the treatment of anterior cruciate ligament injury. Joints 2(3):124–129
- Gokeler WW, Zaffagnini S, Seil R, Padua D (2017) Development of a test battery to enhance safe return to sports after anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc 25:192–199

References

- Von Porat A, Roos EM, Roos H (2004) High prevalence of osteoarthritis 14 years after an anterior cruciate ligament tear in male soccer players: a study of radiographic and 20 patient relevant outcomes. Ann Rheum Dis 63(3):269–273
- Erickson BJ, Harris JD, Cvetanovich GL, Bach BR, Bush-Joseph CA, Abrams GD, Gupta AK, McCormick FM, Cole BJ (2014) Performance and return to sport after anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction in male

Major League Soccer players. Orthop J Sports Med 2(9):2325967114548831

- Roos H, Ornell M, Gardsell P, Lohmander LS, Lindstrand A (1995) Soccer after anterior cruciate ligament injury, an incompatible combination? A national survey of incidence and risk factors and a 7-year follow-up of 310 players. Acta Orthop Scand 66(2):107–112
- Waldén M, Hägglund M, Magnusson H, Ekstrand J (2016) ACL injuries in men's professional football: a 15-year prospective study on time trends and returnto-play rates reveals only 65% of players still play at the top level 3 years after ACL rupture. Br J Sports Med 50(12):744–750
- Waldén M, Hägglund M, Magnusson H, Ekstrand J (2011) Anterior cruciate ligament injury in elite football: a prospective three-cohort study. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc 19:11–19
- Dupont G, Nedelec M, McCall A, McCormack D, Berthoin S, Wisløff U (2010) Effect of 2 soccer matches in a week on physical performance and injury rate. Am J Sports Med 38:1752–1758
- Carling C, McCall A, Le Gall F, Dupont G (2016) The impact of short periods of match congestion on injury risk and patterns in an elite football club. Br J Sports Med 50:764–768
- Marcacci M, Zaffagnini S, Iacono F, Neri MP, Petito A (1995) Early versus late reconstruction for anterior cruciate ligament rupture. Results after 5 years of follow- up. Am J Sports Med 23(6):690–693
- Granan LP, Bahr R, Lie SA, Engebretsen L (2009) Timing of anterior cruciate ligament reconstructive surgery and risk of cartilage lesions and meniscal tears: a cohort study based on the Norwegian National Knee Ligament Registry. Am J Sports Med 37:955–961
- Ekstrand J (2011) A 94% return to elite level football after ACL surgery: a proof of possibilities with optimal caretaking or a sign of knee abuse? Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc 19:1–2
- 11. Brophy RH, Schmitz L, Wright RW, Dunn WR, Parker RD, Andrish JT, McCarty EC, Spindler KP (2012) Return to play and future ACL injury risk after ACL reconstruction in soccer athletes from the Multicenter Orthopedic Outcomes Network (MOON) group. Am J Sports Med 40:2517–2522
- Waldén M, Hägglund M, Ekstrand J (2006) High risk of new knee injury in elite footballers with previous anterior cruciate ligament injury. Br J Sports Med 40:158–162
- Wiggins AJ, Grandhi RK, Schneider DK, Stanfield D, Webster KE, Myer GD (2016) Risk of secondary injury in younger athletes after anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Am J Sports Med 44(7):1861–1876
- Waldén M (2013) Return to sports after ACL reconstruction surgery: a risk for further joint injury? In: Sanchis-Alfonso V, Monllau JC (eds) The ACL-

deficient knee. A problem solving approach. 1st edn. Springer, London, pp 183–188

- Shelbourne KD, Gray T (1997) Anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction with autogenous patellar tendon graft followed by accelerated rehabilitation. A two- to nine-year follow-up. Am J Sports Med 25(6):786–795
- van Eck CF, Schkrohowsky JG, Working ZM, Irrgang JJ, FH F (2012) Prospective analysis of failure rate and predictors of failure after anatomic anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction with allograft. Am J Sports Med 40:800–807
- Sturnick DR, Vacek PM, DeSarno MJ, Gardner-Morse MG, Tourville TW, Slauterbeck JR, Johnson RJ, Shultz SJ, Beynnon BD (2015) Combined anatomic factors predicting risk of anterior cruciate ligament injury for males and females. Am J Sports Med 43(4):839–847
- van de Pol GJ, Arnold MP, Verdonschot N, van Kampen A (2009) Varus alignment leads to increased forces in the anterior cruciate ligament. Am J Sports Med 37:481–487
- Ménétrey J, Duthon VB, Laumonier T, Fritschy D (2008) "Biological failure" of the anterior cruciate ligament graft. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc 16:224–231
- 20. Spang JT, Dang AB, Mazzocca A, Rincon L, Obopilwe E, Beynnon B, Arciero RA (2010) The effect of medial meniscectomy and meniscal allograft transplantation on knee and anterior cruciate ligament biomechanics. Arthroscopy 26:192–201
- Musahl V, Citak M, O'Loughlin PF, Choi D, Bedi A, Pearle AD (2010) The effect of medial versus lateral meniscectomy on the stability of the anterior cruciate ligament-deficient knee. Am J Sports Med 38:1591–1597
- Ahn JH, Lee SH (2016) Risk factors for knee instability after anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc 24(9):2936–2942
- Bonanzinga T, Zaffagnini S, Grassi A, Marcheggiani Muccioli GM, Neri MP, Marcacci M (2013) Management of combined anterior cruciate ligamentposterolateral corner tears: a systematic review. Am J Sports Med 42:1496–1503
- 24. Kon E, Filardo G, Berruto M, Benazzo F, Zanon G, Della Villa S, Marcacci M (2011) Articular cartilage treatment in high- level male soccer players: a prospective comparative study of arthroscopic secondgeneration autologous chondrocyte implantation versus microfracture. Am J Sports Med 39:2549–2557
- 25. Della Villa S, Kon E, Filardo G, Ricci M, Vincentelli F, Delcogliano M, Marcacci M (2010) Does intensive rehabilitation permit early return to sport without compromising the clinical outcome after arthroscopic autologous chondrocyte implantation in highly competitive athletes? Am J Sports Med 38:68–77
- 26. Zantop T, Herbort M, Raschke MJ, Fu FH, Petersen W (2007) The role of the anteromedial and postero-

lateral bundles of the anterior cruciate ligament in anterior tibial translation and internal rotation. Am J Sports Med 35(2):223–227

- 27. Magnussen RA, Reinke EK, Huston LJ, MOON Group, Hewett TE, Spindler KP (2016) Effect of high-grade preoperative knee laxity on anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction outcomes. Am J Sports Med 44(12):3077–3082
- 28. Zaffagnini S, Signorelli C, Bonanzinga T, Grassi A, Galán H, Akkawi I, Bragonzoni L, Cataldi F, Marcacci M (2016) Does meniscus removal affect ACL-deficient knee laxity? An in vivo study. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc 24(11):3599–3604
- 29. Kittl C, El-Daou H, Athwal KK, Gupte CM, Weiler A, Williams A, Amis AA (2016) The role of the anterolateral structures and the ACL in controlling laxity of the intact and ACL-deficient knee. Am J Sports Med 44(2):345–354
- Rahnemai-Azar AA, Naendrup JH, Soni A, Olsen A, Zlotnicki J, Musahl V (2016) Knee instability scores for ACL reconstruction. Curr Rev Musculoskelet Med 9(2):170–177
- Moewis P, Duda GN, Jung T, Heller MO, Boeth H, Kaptein B, Taylor WR (2016) The restoration of passive rotational tibio-femoral laxity after anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction. PLoS One 11(7):e0159600
- Torg JS, ConradW KV (1976) Clinical diagnosis of anterior cruciate ligament instability in the athlete. Am J Sports Med 4(2):84–93
- Galway HR, MacIntosh DL (1980) The lateral pivot shift: a symptom and sign of anterior cruciate ligament insufficiency. Clin Orthop Relat Res (147):45–50
- 34. Van Eck CF, van den BekeromMP FFH, Poolman RW, Kerkhoffs GM (2013) Methods to diagnose acute anterior cruciate ligament rupture: a metaanalysis of physical examinations with and without anaesthesia. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc 21(8):1895–1903
- Musahl V, Hoshino Y, Ahlden M, Araujo P, Irrgang JJ, Zaffagnini S et al (2012) The pivot shift: a global user guide. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc 20(4):724–731
- 36. Hefti F, Muller W, Jakob RP, Staubli HU (1993) Evaluation of knee ligament injuries with the IKDC form. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc 1(3–4):226–234
- 37. Daniel DM, Stone ML, Sachs R, Malcom L (1985) Instrumented measurement of anterior knee laxity in patients with acute anterior cruciate ligament disruption. Am J Sports Med 13(6):401–407
- Kilinc BE, Kara A, Celik H, Oc Y, Camur S (2016) Evaluation of the accuracy of Lachman and Anterior Drawer Tests with KT1000 in the follow-up of anterior cruciate ligament surgery. J Exerc Rehabil 12(4):363–367
- Ganko A, Engebretsen L, Ozer H (2000) The rolimeter: a new arthrometer compared with the KT-1000. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc 8(1):36–39

- Schuster AJ, McNicholas MJ, Wachtl SW, McGurty DW, Jakob RP (2004) A new mechanical testing device for measuring anteroposterior knee laxity. Am J Sports Med 32(7):1731–1735
- Bull AM, Earnshaw PH, Smith A, Katchburian MV, Hassan AN, Amis AA (2002) Intraoperative measurement of knee kinematics in reconstruction of the anterior cruciate ligament. J Bone Joint Surg Br 84(7):1075–1081
- Lopomo N, Zaffagnini S, Amis AA (2013) Quantifying the pivot shift test: a systematic review. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc 21(4):767–783
- 43. Sundemo D, Alentorn-Geli E, Hoshino Y, Musahl V, Karlsson J, Samuelsson K (2016) Objective measures on knee instability: dynamic tests: a review of devices for assessment of dynamic knee laxity through utilization of the pivot shift test. Curr Rev Musculoskelet Med 9(2):148–159
- 44. Zaffagnini S, Klos TV, Bignozzi S (2010) Computerassisted anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction: an evidence-based approach of the first 15 years. Arthroscopy 26(4):546–554
- 45. Zaffagnini S, Bignozzi S, Martelli S, Imakiire N, Lopomo N, Marcacci M (2006) New intraoperative protocol for kinematic evaluation of ACL reconstruction: preliminary results. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc 14(9):811–816
- 46. Zaffagnini S, Signorelli C, Lopomo N, Bonanzinga T, Marcheggiani Muccioli GM, Bignozzi S, Visani A, Marcacci M (2012) Anatomic double-bundle and over-the-top single-bundle with additional extra-articular tenodesis: an in vivo quantitative assessment of knee laxity in two different ACL reconstructions. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc 20(1):153–159
- 47. Hoshino Y, Kuroda R, Nagamune K, Araki D, Kubo S, Yamaguchi M, Kurosaka M (2012) Optimal measurement of clinical rotational test for evaluating anterior cruciate ligament insufficiency. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc 20(7):1323–1330
- Kuroda R, Hoshino Y (2016) Electromagnetic tracking of the pivot-shift. Curr Rev Musculoskelet Med 9(2):164–169
- 49. Maeyama A, Hoshino Y, Debandi A, Kato Y, Saeki K, Asai S, Goto B, Smolinski P, FH F (2011) Evaluation of rotational instability in the anterior cruciate ligament deficient knee using triaxial accelerometer: a biomechanical model in porcine knees. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc 19(8):1233–1238
- 50. Lopomo N, Zaffagnini S, Signorelli C, Bignozzi S, Giordano G, Marcheggiani Muccioli GM, Visani A (2012) An original clinical methodology for noninvasive assessment of pivot-shift test. Comput Methods Biomech Biomed Engin 15(12):1323–1328
- 51. Berruto M, Uboldi F, Gala L, Marelli B, Albisetti W (2013) Is triaxial accelerometer reliable in the evaluation and grading of knee pivot-shift phenomenon? Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc 21(4):981–985
- 52. Zaffagnini S, Lopomo N, Signorelli C, Marcheggiani Muccioli GM, Bonanzinga T, Grassi A, Raggi F,

Visani A, Marcacci M (2014) Inertial sensors to quantify the pivot shift test in the treatment of anterior cruciate ligament injury. Joints 2(3):124–129

- Hoshino Y, Araujo P, Irrgang JJ, FH F, Musahl V (2012) An image analysis method to quantify the lateral pivot shift test. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc 20(4):703–707
- 54. Bedi A, Musahl V, Lane C, Citak M, Warren RF, Pearle AD (2010) Lateral compartment translation predicts the grade of pivot shift: a cadaveric and clinical analysis. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc 18(9):1269–1276
- 55. Hoshino Y, Araujo P, Ahldén M, Samuelsson K, Muller B, Hofbauer M, Wolf MR, Irrgang JJ, FH F, Musahl V (2013) Quantitative evaluation of the pivot shift by image analysis using the iPad. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc 21(4):975–980
- Musahl V, Griffith C, Irrgang JJ, Hoshino Y, Kuroda R, Lopomo N, Zaffagnini S, Samuelsson K, Karlsson J, PIVOT Study Group (2016) Validation of quantitative measures of rotatory knee laxity. Am J Sports Med 44(9):2393–2398
- 57. Lopomo N, Signorelli C, Rahnemai-Azar AA, Raggi F, Hoshino Y, Samuelsson K, Musahl V, Karlsson J, Kuroda R, Zaffagnini S, PIVOT Study Group (2016) Analysis of the influence of anaesthesia on the clinical and quantitative assessment of the pivot shift: a multicenter international study. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00167-016-4130-1
- 58. Semay B, Rambaud A, Philippot R, Edouard P (2016) Evolution of the anteroposterior laxity by GnRB at 6, 9 and 12 months post-surgical anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction. Ann Phys Rehabil Med 59S:e19
- Zaffagnini S, Signorelli C, Grassi A, Yue H, Raggi F, Urrizola F, Bonanzinga T, Marcacci M (2016) Assessment of the pivot shift using inertial sensors. Curr Rev Musculoskelet Med 9(2):160–163
- 60. Grassi A, Vascellari A, Combi A, Tomaello L, Canata GL, Zaffagnini S, Sports Committee SIGASCOT (2016) Return to sport after ACL reconstruction: a survey between the Italian Society of Knee, Arthroscopy, Sport, Cartilage and Orthopaedic Technologies (SIGASCOT) members. Eur J Orthop Surg Traumatol 26(5):509–516
- 61. Kocher MS, Steadman JR, Briggs KK, Sterett WI, Hawkins RJ (2004) Relationships between objective assessment of ligament stability and subjective assessment of symptoms and function after anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction. Am J Sports Med 32(3):629–634
- 62. Jonsson H, Riklund-Ahlstrom K, Lind J (2004) Positive pivot shift after ACL reconstruction predicts

later osteoarthrosis: 63 patients followed 5-9 years after surgery. Acta Orthop Scand 75(5):594–599

- 63. Sandon A, Werner S, Forssblad M (2015) Factors associated with returning to football after anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc 23(9):2514–2521
- 64. McGrath TM, Waddington G, Scarvell JM, Ball N, Creer R, Woods K, Smith D, Adams R (2016) An ecological study of anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction, Part 1: Clinical tests do not correlate with return-to-sport outcomes. Orthop J Sports Med 4(11):2325967116672208
- 65. Czuppon S, Racette BA, Klein SE, Harris-Hayes M (2013) Variables associated with return to sport following anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction: a systematic review. Br J Sports Med 48(5):356–364
- 66. Tagesson S, Oberg B, Kvist J (2015) Static and dynamic tibial translation before, 5 weeks after, and 5 years after anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc 23(12):3691–3697
- 67. van Grinsven S, van Cingel RE, Holla CJ, van Loon CJ (2010) Evidence-based rehabilitation following anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc 18:1128–1144
- Myer GD, Paterno MV, Ford KR, Hewett TE (2008) Neuromuscular training techniques to target deficits before return to sport after anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction. J Strength Cond Res 22:987–1014
- Barber-Westin SD, Noyes FR (2011) Factors used to determine return to unrestricted sports activities after anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction. Arthroscopy 27(12):1697–1705
- Malinin TI, Levitt RL, Bashore C, Temple HT, Mnaymneh W (2002) A study of retrieved allografts used to replace anterior cruciate ligaments. Arthroscopy 18:163–170
- Petersen W, Zantop T (2013) Return to play following ACL reconstruction: survey among experienced arthroscopic surgeons (AGA instructors). Arch Orthop Trauma Surg 133(7):969–977
- Zaffagnini S, Grassi A, Marcheggiani Muccioli GM, Tsapralis K, Ricci M, Bragonzoni L, Della Villa S, Marcacci M (2014) Return to sport after anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction in professional soccer players. Knee 21:731–735
- 73. Gokeler W, Welling S, Zaffagnini R, Seil R, Padua D (2017) Development of a test battery to enhance safe return to sports after anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc 25:192–199